## SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY A. HALL

Appellant

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee

CASE NO F71, 661 D SID J. WHITE SEP 12 1989 V. CLERK, SDANEME COURT By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Deputy Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

GERARD F. KEATING, P.A.

By:

GERARD F. KEATING. ESOUIRE Florida Bar No. 328571 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 346 Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904)252-2501 Attorney for Appellant

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 26, 1987 the State of Florida filed a first degree murder indictment against Anthony Allan Hall, Defendant and three Co-Defendants. (R 1286)

On September 10, 1987 Defendant filed his Motion to Suppress Confessions and Admissions. (R 1298)

On August 22, 1988 Defendant filed his Amended Motion to Suppress Confessions and Admissions. (R 2343 - 1344)

On May 6, 1988 the Honorable Trial Court entered its Order Denying Motion to Appoint Expert Witness. (R 1330) Defendant had sought to have an expert appointed by the court to assist in the preparation of the defense of insanity at the time of the offense. (R 1323) Defendant was Indigent (R 1282)

On August 22, 1988 Defendant filed his Motion for Clarification or Rehearing for the trial court to rehear the request for appointment of Randall H. Balmer, Assistant Professor of Religion, Columbia University (R 1348-1346) Professor Balmer's proposed testimony would be offered to prove the defense of temporary insanity, and lack of premeditation or specific intent, specifically regarding the influence of Satan through Bunny Dixon.

On August 22, 1988 Defendant filed his Notice of Insanity Defense at Time of Offense. (R 1341-1342) and listed 6 witnesses and requested a jury instruction at trial for a verdict of not guilty by reason of insanity.

On August 22, 1988 Defendant filed his Motion to Appoint

-1-

Expert Psychologists for the defense of temporary insanity. (R 1339-1340) Included among these experts was Dr. Andrew Farinacci, Phd. Clinical Psychologist.

On August 22, 1988 Defendant filed his Motion for Severance and Separate Trials. (R 1347 - 1348)

On March 13, 1989, the day the trial began, the Court granted in writing the Motion for Severance but denied Hall's Motion to Appoint Expert and denied his Motion for Clarification or Rehearing. (R 1417-1418)

The jury trial commenced on March 13, 1989. (R 3)

Just prior to jury selection the court denied twelve (12) various motions regarding jury selection and the death penalty. (R 1351-1416)

The crux of Hall's defense was that he was temporarily insane at the time of the offense and that he lacked the requisite mental condition or intent for premeditated murder or the underlying felony. A Co-defendant, Bunny Dixon was a Satan worshiper who studied the Satanic Bible, performed Satanic rituals, talked to a dead 10 year old boy "David" a/k/a Satan and received instructions from Satan how to abduct the victim and to sacrifice the victim to Satan. Just prior to the fatal shooting Bunny Dixon carved an inverted cross in the victim's chest to sacrifice him to Satan. (R 693 - 725)

In Voir Dire the Defendant attempted to inquire of the jurors about their reaction to evidence of satanism and regarding each jurors religious views. (R 157-158-159)

-2-

The Court sustained the State's objections. The Defendant made a proffer of the type of Voir Dire questions he intended to ask. (R 160 - 163) The court in no uncertain terms denied the proffer and the entire defense. (R-163) Court, "I told you I wasn't going to allow a defense of temporary insanity based on Satanism." the Defendant also proffered the voir dire questions and evidence as a defense to premeditation to show lack of intent. ( R The proffer was denied. (R 166) The Court ruled 164) that it would not allow the defense of temporary insanity or a reduced or diminished intent. (R 170) The Court refused to let Defendant's expert witnesses, a psychiatrist and Religion Professor, testify in the guilt or innocence phase but might consider such evidence as mitigating factors in the sentencing phase. (R 174) Hall's attorney in Voir Dire attempted to question the jurors whether the evidence of the Satanic Bible would sway them from being fair and impartial. (R 181) The court precluded this inquiry. The Satanic Bible was later introduced into evidence. (R\*10 after R 1446) Another juror raised the connection between the Satanic Bible and premeditation. (R 187) but the Court's earlier ruling precluded Hall's attorney from further inquiry into these areas.

Counsel gave opening statements. Since Hall was precluded from arguing temporary insanity, he proceeded on other theories of defense: lack of intent or premeditation, self defense (duress from Co-Defendant Bowen) defense of

-3-

others (his pregnant sister) and that Bowen not Hall killed the victim. (R 411-416)

The State commenced its case in chief. The State introduced over objection, Defendant's confession to the Missouri Police (R 470 - 493) and to Volusia County Sheriff. (R 532)

At the conclusion of the State's case in chief Hall moved for a directed verdict of acquittal which was denied. (R 607)

The Defendant presented his case. Hall testified (R 693-773)

Hall's attorney made a proffer of the expert testimony of Religion professor Randall Balmer and Psychologist Andrew Farinacci, (R 773-777) including Defendant's Exhibits for identification 0 + P (R-774 and R-1478-1494) The proffer was denied. (R 779)

These two witnesses testified during the sentencing phase and their testimony shows what could have been presented to the jury in the guilt or innocence phase regarding temporary insanity, premeditation and specific intent. (R 1083-1183)

After the proffer Hall requested a directed verdict and judgment of not guilty by reason or insanity. (R 777)

In the charge conference Hall requested jury instructions on insanity, self defense, defense of others, justifiable use of deadly force (R 780), sudden impulse. The court denied these. (R 809-816)

The jury returned a verdict of guilty to premeditated murder and felony murder. (R 1454)

The death penalty phase commenced. (R 1059) The State presented its case. The Defendant presented its case by first proffering the testimony of Columbia University Professor of Religion, Randall Balmer. (R 1083-1104) After the proffer the Court accepted the Professor as an expert in the area of Religion, Evangelical Religion and the role of Satan in human affairs. (R 1105) Professor Balmer testified in front of the jury. (R 1105 - R1150) He stated that Hall's ability to know right from wrong was obliterated and impaired through the effects of the Co-Defendant Bunny Dixon and Satanism and that Defendant's free will was overcome by Satanism and that Hall believed he was under the influence of Satan at the time of the offense. (R 1112 -1121 -1122) On cross examination the State elicited testimony from professor Balmer about the Co-Defendant Bunny Dixon's confession. (R 1131) Hall objected. (R 1134) The Court permitted the testimony. R 1134-1139) Hall moved for a mistrial which was denied. (R 1145)

Defendant then called Dr. Andrew Farinacci, Clinical Psychologist as witness. R 1151 - 1183) Dr. Farinacci described his credentials. (R 1151 - 1153) and was accepted by the Court as an expert in the area of psychology without objection. (R 1153)

Dr. Farinacci stated that he had been available to testify during the guilt or innocence phase of this trial.

-5-

(R 1153) Dr. Farinacci testified about his examination of Hall (R 1156) and his previous review of video taped interviews of Hall and his sister Brenda Daum. (R 1154) Dr. Farinacci administered tests to Hall, (R 1159) including the Wochsler Adult Intelligence Seale Revised; Rorschach Test, Sentence Completion Test; Thermatig Apperception Test; and Projective Drawings Test. (R 774 Defendant's Exhibit P for Identification, page 3 and R 1153 Exhibit Y for Identification).

Dr. Farinacci testified that "at the time of the shooting he was definitely unable to distinguish right from wrong. He was not in his own mind" (R 1163). Dr. Faranacci stated Hall "would fit the concept of insanity as characterized by the McNaughton rule ... on the date of the offense". (R 1165) Dr. Farinacci was well versed in the McNaughton test for insanity having testified over 60 times in Florida circuit courts regarding competency. (R 1152) Dr. Farinacci went on to testify about mitigating factors in Hall's mental condition including his extreme emotional stress (R 1166), the substantial domination of Co-Defendants Bowen and Dixon (R 1166), his inability to appreciate the criminality of his act (R 1166 - 1167), his inability to conform his conduct to be requirements of the law. (R 1167)

The jury's advisory recommendation was the death penalty by 7 to 5 vote. (R 1227)

In Chambers the Court noted that the State's case went

-6-

to the jury on one theory of felony murder based on kidnapping, (R 1232) with the State apparently abandoning the robbery and burglary felonies set forth in the indictment.

The Court sentenced Hall to death. (R 1283 - 1284) The Court found four (4) aggravating circumstances; (R 1279 -1280)

 That Hall committed the murder while engaged in a kidnapping. FLA. STAT. 921.141 (5)(b).

2. That the crime was committed for pecuniary gain. FLA. STAT. 921.141 (5) (f)

3. That the crime was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. FLA. STAT. 921.141 (5)(h)

4. That the crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. FLA. STAT. 921.141 (5)(i)

The Court found one non-statutory mitigating factor that Hall was an abused child. (R 1281) The Court rejected the mitigating factors of self defense (duress or coercion), defense of others (sister), or that Hall was acting under the influence of Satanism through Co-Defendant Dixon. (R 1281)

This Appeal flows from the conviction and sentence below.

-7-

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court denied Appellant a fair trial by excluding expert testimony regarding his state of mind and temporary insanity at the time of the offense. Hall filed a Notice of Intent to Rely on Insanity Defense. The trial court ruled that a clinical psychologist could not testify that Hall was insane under the McNaughton Rule and that a Religion professor could not testify that Hall did not know right from wrong due to the effect of Satanism through a codefendant.

Appellants made a proffer of the testimony during the guilt phase and the witnesses themselves were permitted to testify during sentencing, although not under the aegis of any insanity defense.

The court improperly limited Appellant's voir dire.

The court allowed into evidence Hall's two recorded confessions and his extemporaneous statements to police during interstate transport. This was error.

The court should have granted Hall's various pretrial motions.

The court should have instructed the jury on insanity, self-defense, defense of others, sudden impulsive act. The court gave a duress or coercion instruction naming the wrong aggressor.

In sentencing the court refused to find the following mitigating factors in spite of uncontroverted expert evidence: FLA. STAT. 921.141 (6) (b) that Hall was under the

-8-

influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance; FLA. STAT. 921.141 6(c) that Hall was an accomplice or his participation was relatively minor; FLA. STAT. 921.141 (6)(e) that Hall acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person; FLA. STAT. 921.141 (6)(f) that Hall did not have the capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law.

The death penalty should not be applied here because it is disproportionate to the facts of this case.

Florida's sentencing statute is unconstitutional.

The court erred in finding the aggravating factors of the heinous, atrocious and cruel, cold, calculated, premeditated and pecuniary gain.

This court should reverse and remand for a new trial and allow the insanity defense and defense of the effects of Satanism on defendant's state of mind.

## **ARGUMENT**

## POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN IMPROPERLY RESTRICTING APPELLANT'S PRESENTATION OF EVIDENCE WHERE SUCH EVIDENCE WAS CRUCIAL TO HIS DEFENSE THEREBY RESULTING IN VIOLATION OF APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS UNDER THE SIXTH AMENDMENT AND ARTICLE I SECTION 16 FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

A crucial issue at trial was the defense of temporary insanity at the time of the offense. A corollary defense was that Hall acted under the influence of Satanism as personified by Co-Defendant Bunny Dixon, a Satan worshiper. This was a primary point of contention by the defense throughout the State's case in chief as demonstrated by the numerous questions on cross examination of state's witnesses. (R 497, 567, 581)

This was a primary point of contention by the defense in the presentation of its case. (R 632, 639, 649, 668, 669, 677, 680 - 682, 695 - 696, 702, 705, 708 - 712, 714 - 716)

In an attempt to present evidence on this issue, the defense proffered the testimony of Randall Balmer, Professor of Religion, Columbia University, New York and Dr. Andrew Farinacci, Ph.D Clinical Psychology. (R 773 and 774 Defendant's Exhibits O and P for Identification and R 1478-1494) These witnesses were listed as experts by the defense seven (7) months before trial when the Defendant filed his Notice of Intent to Rely on Defense of Insanity. (R 1341 -1342). The court, both pretrial and in the guilt phase, denied the use of these experts. The court's ruling cut out the heart of Hall's defense. Hall was precluded from

-10-

presenting expert religious and psychiatric testimony regarding his lack of premeditation, lack of intent and insanity (R 584) The witnesses were available to testify themselves, (R 1153) and the reports were proffered to show the court the substance of their testimony. Although these two (2) witnesses were allowed to testify in the penalty phase (R 1083 - 1183) that did not render harmless the error in the guilt phase. If these experts were permitted to testify in the guilt phase perhaps the jury would have brought back verdict for a lesser included offense or even not guilty by reason of insanity.

Even in the sentencing phase the Appellant was precluded from arguing that Hall was temporarily insane, for any reason, but specifically from the influence of Satanism.

In <u>Gurganus v. State</u>, 451 So.2d 817 (FL 1984) this court reversed four (4) convictions and remanded to the circuit court for a new trial when the lower court refused to allow testimony of two (2) clinical psychologists.

The defense in <u>Gurganus</u> gave notice that insanity would be relied upon as a defense. Id at 819. <u>Guraanus</u> proffered the testimony of two (2) experts outside of the presence of the jury. After hearing the proffered testimony the trial judge refused to allow it into evidence on the grounds that the testimony was irrelevant. Id at 820. "During the proffer of the psychologists' testimony the defense made it clear that the testimony was intended to be considered as evidence on three issues relating to <u>Gurganus'</u> state of mind

-11-

at the time of the shootings: insanity; whether <u>Guruanus'</u> actions more closely resembled a "depraved mind" as opposed to premeditated behavior; and whether <u>Gurganus</u> was able to entertain the specific intent required to convict him of first-degree murder under either the premeditated or felony murder theories taking into consideration the effects of the combined consumption of drugs and alcohol." Id at p.820.

Likewise, Hall made it clear that the testimony of Professor Balmer and Dr. Farinacci was intended to be considered as evidence of insanity (R 163), depraved mind (R 864) and Hall's inability to entertain the specific intent for premeditated or felony murder. (R 584)

"It is well established in Florida that the test for insanity, when used as a defense to a criminal charge is the McNaughton Rule. Under McNaughton the only issues are: 1) the individual's ability at the time of the incident to distinguish right from wrong; and 2) his ability to understand the wrongness of the act committed. <u>Brown V.</u> <u>State</u>, 245 So.2d 68 (Fla.1971), vacated on other grounds, 408 U.S. 938, 92 S.Ct. 2870, 33 L.Ed.2d 759 (1972); <u>Campbell V.</u> <u>State</u>, 227 So.2d 873 (Fla.1969), <u>Gurganus</u> at p. 820 and 821.

In <u>Guruanus</u> the proffered testimony showed that the expert opinions were that he was "not in effective control of his behavior," that he had "a mental defect", and that his judgment "would have been seriously impaired". Id at 821.

In Hall the proffered testimony showed Hall's "ability to distinguish right from wrong would be obliterated or

-12-

impaired," Hall's "ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law" would be affected due to Satanism, and Hall's ability "to act freely and voluntarily" would be affected by a codefendant's use of the Satanic Bible and performance of a Satanic ritual. (R 775) Professor Balmer's testimony at sentencing was even more emphatic. He stated that Hall was under the influence of Satan at the time of the shooting through Co-defendant Bunny Dixon the Satan worshipper. Balmer testified that when Dixon carved an inverted cross in the victim to sacrifice him to Satan before the shooting that Hall's ability to know right from wrong was obliterated. (R 1121)

In <u>Gursanus</u> the expert testimony was inconclusive as to the defendant's insanity under the McNaughton rule. Id at **821.** On the other hand, the testimony of Dr. Farinacci in Hall is quite conclusive. His proffered testimony shows Hall "was operating in a state of altered consciousness brought on by extreme distress, namely fear for his own life and for the life of his sister;" Hall was "unable to make decisions for himself; and unable to make distinctions between right and wrong." (R **776)** Dr. Farinacci's testimony during sentencing would have been the same during the guilt phase. He states, "He (Hall) was not in his right mind." He (Hall) would fit the "concept of insanity as characterized by the McNaughton rule... On the day of the offense". (R **1163, 1165)** Hall was acting "under extreme emotional stress. I would see him

-13-

as being acutely disturbed". (R 1166)

The expert testimony in Hall had much greater evidentiary value than that proffered in <u>Gurganus</u> because it was directly on point to prove Hall's insanity and inability to form the requisite premeditation and intent.

In <u>Gurganus</u> this court found merit on the third basis for which the testimony was offered. <u>Gurganus</u> intended to use the testimony as evidence of his intoxication and resulting inability to entertain a specific intent at the time of the offense. <u>Gurganus</u> at 822.

"It is clear that <u>Gurganus'</u> ability to entertain a specific intent at the time of the offense, an element required to be proved by the state, was a relevant issue pertaining to both the first-degree murder and the attempted first-degree murder charges regardless of whether the state sought conviction under either a premeditated or a felony murder theory. To convict an individual of premeditated murder the state must prove, among other things, 'a fullyformed conscious purpose to kill, which exists in the mind of the perpetrator for a sufficient length of time to permit of reflection, and in pursuance of which an act of killing ensues.' <u>Sireci</u> v. <u>State</u>, 399 So.2d 964, 967 (Fla.1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 984, 102 S.Ct. 2257, 72 L.Ed.2d 862 (1982). Obviously, this element includes the requirement that the accused have the specific intent to kill at the time of the offense. E. g. Sipes v. State, 154 Fla. 262, 17 So.2d 93 (Fla.1944); Chisolm V. State, 74 Fla. 50, 76 So.

-14-

329 (1917). Likewise, specific intent to kill is also an element to be proved by the state in a charge of attempted first-degree premeditated murder. <u>Fleming V.</u> <u>State.</u> 374 So.2d 954 (Fla. 1979); <u>Deal V.</u> <u>State</u>, 359 So.2d 43 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978).

In order to prove first-degree felony murder the state need not prove premeditation or a specific intent to kill but must prove that the accused entertained the mental element required to convict on the underlying felony. Jacobs V. <u>State</u>, 396 So.2d 1113 (Fla.1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 933, 102 S.Ct. 430, 70 L.Ed.2d 239 (1981); <u>Adams V. State</u>, 341 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1976), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 878, 98 S.Ct. 232, 54 L.Ed.2d 158 (1977). <u>Gurganus</u> at p.822".

The underlying felony in <u>Gurganus</u> was attempted kidnapping, and was kidnapping in the instant case. (R 1286, 1232). In order to convict on kidnapping, premeditated murder or felony murder, the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt, Hall's specific intent at the time of the offense. "When specific intent is an element of the crime charged, evidence of voluntary intoxication, or for that matter evidence of any condition relating to the accused's ability to form a specific intent, is relevant. <u>Cirack V.</u> <u>State,</u> 201 So.2d 706 (Fla.1967); <u>Garner V. State.</u> 28 Fla. 113, 9 So. 835 (1891)".

This statement in <u>Gurganus</u> at pages 822 and 823 makes it clear that Professor Balmer's testimony relating to the effects of Satanism on Hall's mental condition is relevant

-15-

and admissible to show Hall's inability to form a specific intent.

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