IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN 4 1990

J. WHITE

ANTHONY A. HALL

Appel1ant

CASE NO. 74,061

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA.

/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAVID S. MORGAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 651265 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

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

Accepting, <u>arguendo</u>, that error occurred by not allowing the psychologist to testify because his opinion may have established a lack of intent due to Hall's alleged diminished capacity occassioned by his exposure to the influence of Satan via Bunny Dixon, it was similarly harmless. The remarks he made to the authorities in Missouri clearly reveal his complete contempt for and rejection of Bunny Dixon's satanic rantings. Furthermore, the jury would be no more inclined to believe " . . .that Bunny Dixon, a 16 year old whom the defendant knew only for a few days, cast a satanic spell or otherwise deprived the defendant of his senses." (R 1502).

Point Two

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY LIMITED THE VOIR DIRE.

The extent of voir dire is subject to judicial discretion. <u>Kalinosky v. State</u>, 414 So.2d 234, 235 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (citation omitted). Reversal upon limitation of voir dire must be based upon an abuse of that discretion. <u>Zamara v. State</u>, 361 So.2d 776,780 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978) (citations omitted), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 372 So.2d 472 (Fla. 1979). "In the absence of demonstrable prejudice, not grounded upon mere speculation, reversal is not proper.''Id.

The primary contention by the defense under point two is dependent upon point one. Inasmuch as the temporary insanity defense due to satanic influence was properly excluded the trial court correctly limited inquiry on that issue during voir dire. Although the court did not allow counsel to question in terms suggesting a legal defense, the judge ultimately ruled that the potential jurors could be asked if the subject of Satanism would affect their ability to render a fair and impartial verdict (R 176).

The defense now claims that statements by two jurors ". . . clearly raise a reasonable doubt whether these jurors could render an unbiased verdict." (B 27). "Any claim that the jury was not impartial . . must focus . . on the jurors who ultimately sat." <u>Ross v. Oklahoma</u>, U.S. , 108 S.Ct. 2273, at 2277, 101 L.Ed.2d 80 (1988). Accepting, <u>arquendo</u>, that juror Heist's comments suggested partiality, the defense claim of prejudice (B 24) is tenuous at best because it never moved to

strike Ms. Heist, who ultimately sat on the jury (R 396). The other venireperson, Mr. Brown, was stricken upon motion by the defense, but no motion had been made to strike for cause (R 210). Because Brown's comments bolstered the satanic theory of defense this issue rests upon the resolution of point one. Further, these defense contentions are procedurally barred because "[i]n order to preserve an issue for appellate review, the specific legal argument or ground upon which it is based must be presented to the trial court." Bertolotti v. Dugger, 514 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 1987).³ Even if the defense had moved to strike for cause, there no grounds for reversal as no still would be additional peremptories were sought after all peremptories were used. Moore v. State, 525 So.2d 871, 873 (Fla. 1988) (citationomitted).

Some claims of error are waived as well by the manner in which they have been presented on appeal. This court has stated:

It is elementary that when a decree of the trial court is brought here on appeal the duty rests upon the appealing party to make error clearly appear. An appellant does not discharge this duty by merely posing a question with an accompanying assertion that it was improperly answered in the court below and then dumping the matter into the lap of the appellate court for decision. Under such circumstances it must be held, as we now hold here, that we are under no duty to answer the question.

[&]quot;Should this issue or any others be found to be procedurally barred, it is respectfully suggested that the opinion contain a plain statement to that effect so as to avoid potential relitigation of the issue(s) in federal collateral proceedings. <u>See Harris v. Reed</u>, U.S.__, 109 S.Ct. 1038 (1989).

Lynn v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 81 So.2d 511, 513 (Fla. 1955); see also Rodriquez v. State, 502 So.2d 18, 19 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986) (citation omitted.)

The defense contends, without supporting argument, that the court erred in not letting counsel inquire regarding the support given to the state attorney, who was personally trying the case, by the potential jurors (B 25). This contention is factually inaccurate as the court permitted direct inquiry regarding financial support (R 127 - 130). The court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the members of the venire panel to maintain confidentiality in their vote. Seev e.g., §101.28(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1987). The contentions regarding the jurors' attitudes about the death penalty, procedural bar aside, are also without merit. The court initially limited the defense questions which were stated in the extremes, i.e., whether there was any set of facts under which the jurors would automatically vote for or against the death penalty (R 194 - 195). The defendant suffered no prejudice because the court had earlier asked the potential jurors individually if each would consider both a life sentence and a death sentence (e,g,, R 68, 71, 73). Furthermore, defense counsel was later permitted to ask essentially the very same questions (e.g., R 200).

The assertion that the court erred in denying the motion in limine (B 25) is a separate issue which was raised in a similar manner under point four by the defense. The state's response is contained in point four, infra.

- 16 -

Point Three

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE CONFESSIONS.

The defense assertion before this court that error was made regarding the statements made in Missouri is waived by the lack of any argument in its brief regarding its claim. Lynn, <u>Rodriguez</u>, <u>supra</u>.

In any event, the claim is without merit because each and every officer who interrogated Hall gave him the required warnings before taking a statement. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966). The Missouri sheriff who arrested Hall read the warnings to him off of a standard card (R 467 -468). The defendant waived those rights (R 469). A Missouri trooper was also present when Hall gave his initial statements. He also testified that the defendant was given the appropriate warnings (R 492). Hall was later interrogated by an investigator from the Volusia County Sheriff's Office. The investigator advised Hall of his rights again, which he waived in writing (R 1437). The defense renews its claim asserted below that the confessions were not made voluntarily or knowingly (B An objection was voiced at trial in which the grounds 28). asserted previously in the motion to suppress were incorporated The defense had claimed involuntariness because the (R 470). defendant was allegedly under the influence of drugs at the time (R 984, 1034). The trial court specifically found that Hall was not under the influence of drugs or alcohol when he made the statements (R 1040). In Johnson v. State this court held:

- 17 -

A ruling on a motion to suppress is presumptively correct, and а reviewing court should interpret the evidence and reasonable inferences and deductions drawn from the evidence in a manner most favorable sustaining to the trial court ruling.

438 So.2d 776 (Fla. 1983) (citation omitted); see also Wasko v. <u>State</u>, 505 So.2d 1314, 1315 - 1316 (Fla. 1987). In this case the finding was unquestionably correct. No witnesses were presented by the defense. All three officers who had interrogated Hall testified that he was not under the influence of any drug (R 992, 1009, 1016).

The defense contention regarding the spontaneous statements made by the defendant during the trip back to Florida is also without merit. The investigator acknowledged that no <u>Miranda</u> warnings had been given and he explained:

> No sir. I wasn't asking him anything, I already had a confession from the gentleman; he wasn't telling me anything that he hadn't told me already; and he wasn't telling me anything about the case, other than the fact that he desired to be electrocuted.

(R 1027).

The warnings are required prior to custodial interrogation. <u>Miranda</u>, <u>supra</u>, S.Ct. at 1612. The defendant simply was not being questioned during the trip back to Florida. The case of <u>Kight v. State</u>, 512 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1987), is inapposite. It involved an interrogation of that defendant after he had requested counsel. <u>Id</u>., 925 - 926. Further, the officer in that case had responded to the defendant's remark that he was "not afraid of the chair" by asking "what chair?" <u>Id</u>., 926. Not only had the investigator and his partner not asked Hall questions on the trip back, but he testified that " . . . I really became tired of listening to what he was indicating to us in reference to that he wanted to be electrocuted; that he was going to fry; that he wanted to be fried." (R 1026 - 1026).

Succinctly stated, the trial court correctly denied the defendant's motion to suppress his confessions because Hall had waived his <u>Miranda</u> rights after proper warnings. As to his remarks made while enroute back to Florida, they were properly admitted at trial because he was not being interrogated during the trip.

Point Four

THE ASSORTED CONTENTIONS RAISED BY THE DEFENSE UNDER POINT FOUR ARE BOTH BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

The defense contends that the trial court erred in not granting numerous pretrial defense motions (B 29). The assorted claims are waived because the initial brief contains no argument in support of the contentions made and numerous issues have been presented under one point on appeal. The words of the court in Rodriquez, supra, are applicable here:

> Without delving into the vaguely stated claims of error, suffice it to say that multibarreled points of this nature fail to raise any judiciable issue for appellate review. "It is wellsettled that, in order to obtain appellate review, alleged errors relied upon for reversal must be raised clearly, concisely and separately as points on appeal."

502 So.2d at 19.

The "Motion to Order the Death Penalty Inapplicable to this Case " (R 1355 - 1362), as well as the "Motion to Declare Section 921.141(5)(i) Florida Statutes, Unconstitutional" (R 1363 -1382), and the "Motion to Declare Section 921.141 Florida Statutes (1987) Unconstitutional" (R 1383 - 1385), challenge the constitutionality of the capital sentencing statute. These sentencing issues were argued before trial. (R 4 - 28) However, pretrial argument on a motion is inadequate to preserve an issue. Cf. Whittington v. State, 511 So.2d 749 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Crespo v. State, 379 So.2d 191 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980). "In order to preserve an issue for appellate review, the specific legal argument or ground upon which it is based must be presented to the trial court." <u>Bertolotti v. State</u>, 514 So.2d 1095, 1096 (Fla. 1987) (citation omitted). The arguments were narrowed at sentencing essentially to the following: The aggravating factor of cold, calculated, and premeditated requires heightened premeditation (R 1191 - 1192); the murder was without any pretense of moral or legal justification (R 1250); and the factor of especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel could not be established by mere shots alone (R 1192 - 1193).

In any event the claims were meritless. The motion seeking to have the death penalty ruled inapplicable presented the grab bag of claims which has been repeatedly rejected by this court. <u>Mendyk v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 847 (Fla. 1989); <u>see</u> point seven <u>infra</u>. Section 921.141 (5)(i), Fla. Stat. (1987), which permits aggravation when the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated fashion, has withstood similar constitutional challenges before this court. <u>Hamblen v. State</u>, 527 So. 2d 800 (Fla. 1988); <u>see</u> point ten <u>infra</u>. Section 921.141, Fla. Stat. (1987), in its entirety was also attacked on the ground of vagueness. A similar challenge was recently rejected by this court in <u>Smalley v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 721 (Fla. 1989). <u>See</u> point nine <u>infra</u>.

The denial of the "Motion to Use Jury Questionnaire" (R 1386 - 1394) was denied primarily because it had not been submitted sufficiently in advance of jury selection (R 9, 36). The action of the court was a proper exercise of judicial discretion. <u>See</u> point two <u>supra</u>.

- 21 -

The "Motion In Limine Regarding Juror's Attitudes Toward the Death Penalty" was properly denied because it sought to prevent the seating of a death-qualified jury. As this court pointed out:

> (T)he United States Supreme Court specifically determined that the dismissal of prospective jurors on these grounds does not violate the fair cross-section requirement of the sixth amendment nor the constitutional right to an impartial jury.

Masterson v. State, 516 So.2d 256, 258 (Fla. 1987) (citations omitted).

The "Motion to Dismiss Indictment or to Declare that Death is not a Possible Penalty (R 1399 - 1401) was waived below because it was not argued before the court.

However, essentially the same grounds were presented under the "Motion for Statement of Aggravating Circumstances" (R 1402 -1404; <u>arqued</u> at R 19). Contrary to the defense claim before the trial court, the state is not required to provide notice of the aggravating circumstances upon which it intends to rely. <u>Johnson</u> <u>v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, 779 (citation omitted), <u>cert. denied</u>, 465 U.S. 105, 104 S.Ct. 1329, 79 L.Ed.2d 724 (1984).

The defense argued that the "Motion for Individual and Sequestered Voir Dire" (R 1405 - 1409) was required in order to avoid seating a death penalty prone jury (R 11). "[T]he granting of individual and sequestered voir dire is within the trial court's discretion." <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 406 (Fla. 1986), <u>cert. denied</u>, 483 U.S. 1010, 107 S.Ct. 3241, 97 L.Ed.2d 746 (1987). Like the defendant in <u>Jackson</u>, the defense here has failed to demonstrate an abuse of discretion. As discussed under point two, the only juror who may have displayed partiality was never challenged by the defense.

The court did not err in denying the "Motion for Additional Peremptory Challenges" (R 1410 - 1412). In <u>Parker v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 436, 442 (Fla. 1984), the defense claimed an entitlement to additional peremptory challenges because of the serious nature of the case. This court rejected the claim because Parker had failed to establish an abuse of discretion. Id. The same argument was advanced below (R 16 - 17). The ruling below was rendered without prejudice so that the defense could raise it again if and when it became appropriate (R 17).

The "Motion for List of Prospective Jurors in Advance of Trial" (R 1413 - 1414) was waived because it was not argued to the court. Furthermore, the record reveals that it was untimely served by mail on Thursday, March 9, 1989. Id. Jury selection began on the following Monday, March 13, 1989 (R 1, et seq.).

As to the "Motion to Sequester Jury During Trial" (R 1413 -1414), "[t]here is no requirement of sequestration prior to final retirement for deliberation." <u>Livingston v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 235, 237 (Fla. 1984) (citation omitted). The defense argument to the trial court was based upon mere speculation of prejudice (R 15). Therefore, the court properly denied this motion; again, without prejudice (R 16).

The claim that the court erred in not granting a post-trial motion for directed verdict and acquittal is defaulted because it raises an entirely separate issue. It lacks even the common

- 23 -

thread running through the immediately preceding contentions of having arisen in a pretrial motion. In order to obtain a review on the merits distinct and separate arguments must be presented under a separate point on appeal. <u>Rodriguez</u>, <u>supra</u>. Furthermore, the state did establish venue in Volusia County through the testimony of Investigator Schweers of the Flagler County Sheriff's Office (R 461).

Point Five

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED THE REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTIONS.

All of the issues presented by the defense in the first paragraph are waived because of the lack of argument and because they are separate issues. <u>Rodriguez</u>, <u>supra</u>.

In any event, the instructions were correctly denied. The defense of temporary insanity due to the influence of Satanism had been excluded (see point one <u>supra</u>). Therefore, the court properly did not instruct upon the insanity defense.

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